

A plug and play artificial intelligent architecture for smart local energy systems integration

Euan Morris and Stephen McArthur

October 2021





UK Research and Innovation





Authors

- Euan Morris | University of Strathclyde
- **Stephen McArthur** | University of Strathclyde

This report should be referenced as:

Morris, E. and McArthur, S. 2021. A plug and play artificial intelligent architecture for smart local energy systems integration. Energy Revolution Research Centre, Strathclyde, UK. University of Strathclyde Publishing. ISBN: 978-1-909522-92-3

Copyright © 2021 EnergyRev. All rights reserved.

Contents

Executive summary					
Introduction	4				
1.1 Aim	4				
1.2 Background	4				
2 Case study	7				
2.1 Implementation	7				
3 Lessons learned	9				
3.1 Evaluation of solution	9				
3.2 Conclusions and recommendations	11				
Appendix: Problem specification	12				
1 Overview	12				
2 Agent interactions	13				
3 Negotiation requirements	13				
4 Negotiation protocol	14				
5 Integration	14				
References					









Executive summary

For a smart local energy system (SLES) to be truly 'smart' it must be capable of managing complex interactions between data, users, and the physical devices which make up the network, while also meeting the key criteria of flexibility, scalability, and reusability. Artificial intelligence (AI) techniques can be utilised to achieve this, and thus make SLES both more effective and more efficient.

While technological limitations are often cited as a barrier to SLES, there are existing, mature, technologies like multi-agent systems (MAS) which can allow for plug and play (PnP) capabilities to be added to existing systems.

To investigate this potential, an MAS approach was taken to facilitate the trading of energy between a range of simulated SLES units. This solution was successfully deployed on top of the existing control system for each of these units.

This application of existing AI techniques and designs to enhance an existing smart gird demonstrator allowed the demonstrator to better achieve the aims of an SLES specifically providing for flexibility, scalability, and reusability.

This investigation showed the following:

- The use of MAS to allow inter-unit energy trading brought down the costs of balancing the individual smart local energy systems by 10%-15%, while also increasing their income by between 15%-25%. This was done by reducing reliance on the wider grid.
- The MAS solution was demonstrated to build scalability in the intelligent power management system. Outcomes improved for each unit as more units took part in the inter-unit trading. It ranged from ~75% utility with 2 units to ~90% utility with 10 units.
- The MAS architecture design took a flexible PnP approach, which could accommodate new market participants joining while others left over time, and could accommodate a range of technology options.
- The MAS design provides for reusability, and could be deployed in a number of locations where SLES are interconnected.









Introduction

1.1 Aim

The aim of this work was to demonstrate the use of existing advanced AI techniques to expand the functionality of an existing smart grid platform through the development of a flexible and extendable architecture. This document sets out pertinent background information, the specification of the problem, a case-study on how this problem was solved, and the lessons learned from this solution.

The ADEPT (ADvanced multi-Energy management & optimisation time shifting PlaTform) demonstrator was used as a case study to prove that MAS can be used to build flexibility into intelligent power management systems. This demonstrator is an industrial microgrid, and includes a wind turbine, a PV system, and battery storage, that serves a mixture of industrial and residential loads.

1.2 Background

1.2.1 Multi-agent systems

MAS were selected for this project, as they provide opportunities for architectures that make use of decentralised processing and control, allowing for dynamic system integration such as that required by the ADEPT extension.

Intelligent agents, as used in MAS, have three significant characteristics that distinguish them from other agentbased systems (Wooldridge, 1999):

- **Reactivity** the ability of agents to react to changes in environment quickly, by taking actions based on those changes and its desired function
- Pro-activeness intelligent agents can dynamically change behaviour to achieve their goals
- **Social ability** intelligent agents can communicate with other intelligent agents directly, collaborating and negotiating to achieve their own goals.

MAS are comprised of a collection of agents communicating and interacting in the same environment (Catterson et al, 2011). Each agent exists in the same environment, with its own goals and capabilities, but the system itself has no global goal. This means MAS must be designed so that agents' local goals are consistent with the overall intention of the system designer (McArthur et al, 2007). This autonomy allows for agents to co-operate and co-ordinate to achieve their individual goals. In addition, the independence of agents and their goals allows for MAS to be extendable and adaptable, as agents in the system can adapt to the removal or modification of existing agents, or addition of new agents (Catterson et al, 2011).









Applications of MAS have been demonstrated, with a number of functions pertinent to energy, and multi-energy systems. These include

- Brokerage of energy markets (Rodríguez González et al, 2019);
- Flexible dispatch of energy resources (Zeng et al, 2019);
- Facilitation of peer-to-peer energy trading (Satheesh Kumar and Nagarajan, 2019);
- Active network management, including for system restoration (Dong et al, 2018), voltage regulation (Davarzani et al, 2019), under-frequency load shedding (Santos et al, 2019) and condition monitoring (McArthur et al, 2019);
- Estimation of network parameters and constraints (Huang et al, 2019);
- Demand response management (Davarzani et al, 2019), control of hydro-electric resources(Satheesh Kumar and Nagarajan, 2019), electric vehicle grid integration (Lakshminarayanan et al, 2019), combined heat and power operation (Liu et al. 2018), and multiple energy carrier microgrids (Moghaddas-Tafreshi et al, 2019).

Of these applications, peer-to-peer energy trading and microgrid control are the most relevant to this project, although all have applications for SLES.

1.2.2 MAS for Smart Local Energy Systems

Three key requirements of SLES are particularly well met by the capabilities of MAS:

- **Flexibility** SLES can expect throughout their lifecycles to be required to deal with expanding and changing use-cases, the connection of new devices and device types (and disconnection of old devices), and the inclusion of traditionally separate energy vectors into the functioning of the system.
- **Scalability** SLES have to be capable of adapting to increases in both energy delivery devices, and in loads, including new types of both.
- Reusability SLES solutions should be deployable to solve similar problems in different areas.

The autonomous and self-organising nature of MAS gives these techniques strong potential for creating flexible PnP solutions to the problems presented by SLES. A solution has PnP capabilities if devices can be added or removed from the system without the system itself needing to be reconfigured. PnP capabilities are key to meeting the goals of SLES, and MAS is one potential technique for achieving PnP.

1.2.3 Agent negotiation

In an MAS negotiation is the foundation for allowing the actions of the agents within the system to meet the goals of that system. This is necessary because agents are autonomous, with no knowledge of the overall desire of the system designer, and internal goals that may conflict with the goals of other agents. Agent negotiation is managed by negotiation protocols, which are the rules governing the negotiation participants, the negotiation states, and the valid actions of the negotiators (Beer et al, 1999). A negotiation object is an issue over which negotiation should be reached. MAS can have a single negotiation object, or there may be multiple factors which must be considered together. Internally to the agents the agent reasoning model is the basis by which the participants make decisions to best achieve their objectives.









1.2.4 Model predictive control

MAS can integrate with a range of control systems which can be deployed in SLES. The ADEPT demonstrator uses a type of feedback control called model predictive control (MPC). This can be used for more complex systems with multiple variables and where conventional industrial controllers are insufficient. MPCs contain use models to predict the changes in system output that result from given changes in system inputs, with the aim of reducing the effects of uncertainly on a system. Conventional MPCs sample current state of the system, and decide control actions on that basis; however state-of-the-art MPCs use forecasting techniques to better estimate the future state of the system, and the impact of control actions (Baldivieso Monasterios and Trodden, 2018).

1.2.5 Multi-agent model predictive control

The nature of both MAS and MPC presents opportunities for the combination of these technologies to provide distributed control. This combination is sometimes referred to as Multi-agent model predictive control (Negenborn et al, 2009) and has been used in the control of traffic networks, communication networks, manufacturing processes, and, of particularly relevance, power networks (Negenborn, 2007). The design basis for these control methods is to have multiple agents attempting to solve the control problem, usually by breaking the control problem down into smaller problems, thus reducing the overall computation burden, while allowing multiple solutions to be investigated simultaneously (Negenborn et al, 2009; Ferrari-Trecate et al, 2009; Hunag et al, 2015).

However, this combination of MAS and MPC was not suitable for the desired extension of the ADEPT system. Because each MPC-controlled unit was to act independently, one control problem did not exist for the whole system. Thus, a different form of inter-microgrid interactions was required. In this case agent-based control of energy trading was the most promising.

1.2.6 Energy trading between microgrids

Energy trading is potentially a particularly valuable form of inter-microgrid interactions. Previous research in this area has identified potentially significant financial savings from allowing microgrids to trade electricity (Wang and Huang, 2018), rather than importing and exporting using the grid. This has included microgrids controlled by a common operator (Fathi and Bevrani, 2013b; Fathi and Bevrani, 2013a) microgrids co-ordinated by a hierarchical structure (Asimakopoulou et al, 2013; Wang et al, 2015), interactions between islanded microgrids (Matamoros et al, 2012), and microgrid participation in energy auctions (Zhang et al, 2014).

Additionally, and of particular relevance, is research on the agent-based control of trading power between two microgrids with demand response, with the aim of reducing peak demand (Kumar Nunna and Doolla, 2013; Kumar Nunna and Doolla, 2012). This highlights that agent-based control of electricity trading can provide benefits to participating microgrids.









2 Case study

2.1 Implementation

2.1.1 Agents

The purpose of the MAS layer in the architecture is to increase both the functionality and flexibility of the distributed MPC control. Specifically, the desire was to allow the MPC-controlled 'ADEPT units' to interact with each other in order to co-ordinate the buying and selling of electricity between each other as much as possible, rather than using the potentially costlier solution of balancing solely using the grid.

To achieve this, three types of agent were designed. The first, the **MPC agent**, was a 'wrapper' around the MPC units, and controlled the flow of information between the units and the other agents. The second was the **Market agent**, which takes the information from the MPC units and, through an internal marketplace, balances the energy supply and demand of the units, allowing units to buy and sell energy from each other if that is more cost effective than using the grid.



Figure 1: Agent internal and external operations









Finally, a **Grid agent** determines the current cost of buying and selling electricity from the grid,¹ and feeds this information to the market agent as required. The interactions between the agents, and the internal actions of each agent are shown in Figure 1.

Using the negotiation protocol (see appendix for more details) the Market Agent devises the optimal transfer of electricity between MPC units with the remainder of balancing performed using the grid. The required transfer for each of the MPC units is then sent to the MPC Agents which instruct the MPC Units to carry out the transfers. The grid is not considered to have any limits on import or export, so convergence is guaranteed regardless of the standing conditions of the negotiation.

¹ It is assumed that all the MPC-controlled microgrids would be buying and selling electricity at the same grid prices. In reality both buying and selling would be subject to tariffs agreed with a supplier (Scott, 2016). In this case study, a steady buying price of 0.1 £/kWh was used (taken as at the lower end of available prices (Business Electricity Prices, 2020; Ofgem, 2020a)), and an export value of 0.05 £/kWh (taken as at the higher end of available prices (Ofgem, 2020b; Riley, 2020).









3 Lessons learned

3.1 Evaluation of solution

3.1.1 Financial evaluation

Initial testing of the MAS architecture was promising, showing that the use of inter-unit balancing represented a financial benefit when compared to the units running separately. An example of the final result of a round of balancing for ten units is shown in Figure 2. This demonstrated that the agent extension architecture was able to facilitate energy trading between the different units, with, at least in this example, an overall financial saving for the participants.

MPC_Unit_9 Transferred 305kWh to MPC_Unit_1 at a price of £20.7781
MPC_Unit_3 Transferred 46kWh to MPC_Unit_2 at a price of £3.3063
MPC_Unit_9 Transferred 32kWh to MPC_Unit_2 at a price of £2.18
MPC_Unit_3 Transferred 276kWh to MPC_Unit_7 at a price of £19.8375
MPC_Unit_10 Transferred 116kWh to MPC_Unit_7 at a price of £10.15
Total cost of balancing was £56.2519
Cost of balancing using only the grid would be £77.50
Total savings from inter-unit balancing are £21.2481
Total earnings if electricity only sold to the grid would be £87.40
Total earnings from inter-unit balancing was £104.9019
Total increased earnings was £17.5019

Figure 2: Example of agent negotiation results.

The system was tested further, with Figure 3 showing the impact of the agent negotiation framework over a random run of 1000 attempts for different numbers of MPC units, from two up to 10.

This suggested that there was a significant financial benefit from using the framework. This was true even when only two MPC units were involved, with this number increasing as the number of MPC units available increased. Units that were selling electricity saw an average increased income of around 15%–25% depending on the number of MPC units in the system, while units which where buying were able to do so at 10%–15% less cost than using the grid, again depending on the number of MPC units in the system.











This confirms that, over a longer period of time the MAS/MPC framework was able to facilitate energy trading to the benefit of each participating microgrid.

Figure 3: Impact of use of agent negotiation protocol compared with grid balancing

3.1.2 Performance evaluation

Table 1 shows the performance of the agent negotiation framework, over a second random run of 1000 for different numbers of MPCs, again from two to ten.

The performance is evaluated by the number of rounds before convergence, and the average utility value given by Equation 1 (see Appendix) for each end solution. Convergence occurred in each of the scenarios, as expected, with this being achieved after a greater number of rounds, when more agents were involved.

However, the average utility also increased with the number of agents, as there were a greater number of solutions available, and thus agents were able to better maximise their own utility.









Table 1:	Performa	formance of agent negotiation with different number of agents					
Number of MPCs		Number of rounds		Average utility			
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
2		1.257	0.786	0.750	0.326		
3		2.037	1.026	0.747	0.306		
4		2.916	1.176	0.785	0.247		
5		3.679	1.392	0.796	0.244		
б		4.561	1.487	0.822	0.219		
7		5.519	1.552	0.835	0.193		
8		6.452	1.575	0.841	0.189		
9		7.290	1.808	0.866	0.164		
10		8.101	1.773	0.879	0.147		

3.2 Conclusions and recommendations

Overall the testing results are promising; multi-agent systems were found to be a good fit for the implementation of SLES functionality.

The agent negotiation framework showed that the application of existing technologies and techniques to an existing smart grid demonstrator successfully allowed the demonstrator to better achieve the aims of an SLES.

Flexibility was demonstrated as additional functionalities were added to an existing system.

Scalability was shown because the deployment and testing of multiple units was possible without the whole system requiring reconfiguration. This was also evident from the finding that adding more units led to improved outcomes.

The wrappers that were designed are also reusable and would allow for other MPC controllers to take part in electricity trading, and with some modification could be used to allow microgrids using different control techniques to take part as well. The location of the units did not matter, so deployment would be possible regardless of location.

While technological limitations are often cited as a barrier to SLES, existing, mature, technologies like MAS can allow for PnP capabilities to be added to existing systems.

A more universal agent wrapper would be possible if it were known in advance which data structures and ontologies that a given system would utilise. It is therefore a recommendation that common data structures and ontologies be considered in SLES design to facilitate true PnP capabilities.









Appendix: Problem specification

1 Overview

The purpose of the MAS layer in the architecture is to increase both the functionality and flexibility of the distributed MPC control; specifically, the desire was to allow the MPC-controlled 'ADEPT units' to interact with each other.

For an MAS solution this required wrapping the MPCs within agents to control the flow of information between the MPCs themselves and the devices which they control, as well as other agents within the system. A market agent would be required which had access to both information about the current prices of purchasing and selling electricity using the wider grid.

The cost of purchasing electricity from the grid, as well as information about the MPC unit batteries could be then used to update the cost function used by the MPC to make control decisions.

Under normal circumstances the MPCs inform each other of control actions they intend to make, but with the addition of the agent wrapper this mere informing of control actions can be replaced with negotiation of control actions between MPCs to allow for multiple MPCs to provide balancing functions to one another.

An overview of the proposed agent layer for this architecture is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Multi agent system layer of extension architecture.









2 Agent interactions

Two types of agent interactions were required for the architecture in Figure 4, the first was the simple exchanging of information, which included interactions between the Grid Agent and the Market Agents.

The second was the negotiation between the MPC agents, to be performed through the broker of the Market Agent. This required the sending of the following information:

- The MPC unit's power (surplus or deficit)
- The MPC unit's battery state of charge
- The MPC unit's price offer for import (if buying)
- The MPC unit's price offer for export (if selling)
- The Market agent's balancing solution
- The MPC's acceptance or rejection of the solution

3 Negotiation requirements

The negotiation protocol required for the architecture in Figure 4 would be consensus-based, with the one agent acting as a broker, and receiving offers from the other agents, including one with information about the available prices for buying and selling from wider grid.

The wider grid was considered to have an infinite capacity for buying and selling electricity.

The aims of the negotiation would therefore be:

- To minimise the amount of energy sold to the grid
- To minimise the amount of energy bought from the grid
- To maximise the cost benefit to each of the participants

The negotiation framework would also need to consider the battery state of charge, with the desire being that units with a lower battery state of charge would be more likely to accept offers that were higher, and units with a higher battery state of charge would be more likely to offer lower prices.









4 Negotiation protocol

The design of the negotiation protocol used by the Market Agent can be summarised as in Equation 1, showing the negotiation aims of minimising both the energy imported to and exported from the grid in order to minimise overall cost of balancing the MPC units.

$$S_{d} = \min(G_{i}), \qquad S_{g} = \min(G_{e})$$

$$S_{d} = \min\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{j} (1 - SoC_{j})G_{bp}\right), \qquad S_{g} = \min\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{j} (1 - SoC_{j})G_{sp}\right)$$

Equation 1: Negotiation priorities for MPC balancing protocol.

Where:

- S_d is the solution for the MPC units which have an excess of demand and need to import.
- S_a is the solution for the MPC units which have an excess of generation and need to export.
- G_i is the amount of electricity to be imported from the grid.
- G_e is the amount of electricity to be exported to the grid.
- d_i is the amount of excess demand for MPC unit, *i*, (received from MPC Agent, *i*).
- g_i is the amount of excess generation for MPC unit, *i*, (received from MPC Agent, *i*).
- SoC_i is the state of charge of the battery for MPC unit, *I* (received from MPC Agent, *i*).
- G_{bp} is the buying price for importing electricity from the grid (received from the Grid Agent).
- G_{sp} is the selling price for exporting electricity to the grid (received from the Grid Agent).

Using the negotiation protocol the Market Agent devises the optimal transfer of electricity between MPC units with the remainder of balancing performed using the grid, the required transfer for each of the MPC units is then sent to the MPC Agents which instruct the MPC Units to carry out the transfers. The grid is not considered to have any limits on import or export, so convergence is guaranteed regardless of the standing conditions of the negotiation.

5 Integration

The agents as described above were originally designed and tested using Smart Python Agent Development Environment (SPADE) and were integrated into the MPC controller functions which were created using MATLAB Simulink. Due to limitations involved in integrating SPADE with MATLAB, the agents were recreated in Java Agent DEvelopment framework (JADE). This allowed for easier integration using the MACSimJX tool, which integrates JADE with Simulink. This will also allow for the testing of different negotiation strategies and protocols.









References

Asimakopoulou, G.E., Dimeas, A.L. and Hatziargyriou. N.D. 2013. Leader-follower strategies for energy management of multi-microgrids. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, **4**(4): 1909–1916. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>TSG.2013.2256941</u>

Baldivieso Monasterios, P.R., and Trodden, P.A. 2018. Model predictive control of linear systems with preview information: Feasibility, stability and inherent robustness. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, **64**(9): 3831–3838. doi: <u>10.1109/TAC.2018.2886156</u>

Beer, M., D'Inverno, M., Luck, M., Jennings, N., Preist, C. and Schroeder, M. 1999. Negotiation in multi-agent systems. *The Knowledge Engineering Review*, **14**(3): 285–289. doi: <u>10.1017/S0269888999003021</u>

Business Electricity Prices, 2020. <u>Wholesale electricity</u> <u>price guide</u>. Oldham, UK: Business Electricity Prices.

Catterson, V.M., Davidson, E.M. and McArthur, S.D.J. 2011. Practical applications of multi-agent systems in electric power systems. *European Transactions on Electrical Power*, **22**: 235–252. doi: <u>10.1002/etep.619</u>

Davarzani, S., Granell, R., Taylor, G.A. and Pisica, I. 2019. Implementation of a novel multi-agent system for demand response management in low-voltage distribution networks. *Applied Energy*, **253**: 113516. doi: <u>10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113516</u>

Dong, Z., Lin, L., Guan, L., Chen, H. and Liang, Q. 2018. A service restoration strategy for active distribution network based on multiagent system. *2018 IEEE Innovative Smart Grid Technologies – Asia (ISGT Asia)*, 384–389. doi: <u>10.1109/ISGT-Asia.2018.8467828</u>

Fathi, M. and Bevrani, H. 2013a. Adaptive energy consumption scheduling for connected microgrids under demand uncertainty. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, **28**(3): 1576–1583. doi: <u>10.1109/</u><u>TPWRD.2013.2257877</u>

Fathi, M. and Bevrani, H. 2013b. Statistical cooperative power dispatching in interconnected microgrids. *IEEE Transactions on Sustainable Energy*, **4**(3): 586–593. doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2012.2232945

Ferrari-Trecate, G., Galbusera, L., Marciandi, M.P.E. and Scattolini, R. 2009. Model predictive control schemes for consensus in multi-agent systems with singleand double-integrator dynamics. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, **54**(11): 2560–2572. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>TAC.2009.2031208</u>

Huang, C.-M., Huang, Y.-C., Yang, S.-P., Huang, K.-Y. and Chen, S.-J. 2019. Parameter estimation and power prediction for PV power generation using a multiagent algorithm. *IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT)*, 679–684. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> ICIT.2019.8755090

Huang, X., Geletu, A. and Li, P. 2015. A soft-constrained optimization approach for model predictive control of multi-agent systems. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, **28**(25): 16–21. doi: <u>10.1016/j.ifacol.2015.11.052</u>

Kumar Nunna, H.S.V.S. and S. Doolla, S. 2012. Demand response in smart distribution system with multiple microgrids. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, **3**(4): 1641–1649. doi: <u>10.1109/TSG.2012.2208658</u>

Kumar Nunna, H.S.V.S. and S. Doolla, S. 2013. Energy management in microgrids using demand response and distributed storage – a multiagent approach. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, **28**(2): 939–947. doi: <u>10.1109/TPWRD.2013.2239665</u>

Lakshminarayanan, V., Chemudupati, V.G.S., Pramanick, S.K. and Rajashekara, K. 2019. Real-time optimal energy management controller for electric vehicle integration in workplace microgrid. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, **5**(1): 174–185. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>TTE.2018.2869469</u>









Liu, S., Gu, Y., Wang, C., Guo, F. and Li, S. 2018. Multienergy coordination based on multi-agent system in energy internet. *2nd IEEE Conference on Energy Internet and Energy System Integration (El2)*, 1–5. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>El2.2018.8581993</u>

Matamoros, J., Gregoratti, D. and Dohler, M. 2012. Microgrids energy trading in islanding mode. *IEEE Third International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm)*, 2012: 49–54. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>SmartGridComm.2012.6485958</u>

McArthur, S.D.J., Davidson, E.M., Catterson, V.M., Dimeas, A.L., Hatziargyriou, N.D., Ponci, F. and Funabashi, T. 2007. Multi-agent systems for power engineering applications – Part I: Concepts, approaches, and technical challenges. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, **22**(4): 1743–1752. doi: <u>10.1109/TPWRS.2007.908471</u>

McArthur, S.D.J., Hossack, J.A. and Jahn, G. 2003. Multiagent systems for diagnostic and condition monitoring applications. *IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting*, 2003: 48–51. doi: 10.1109/PES.2004.1372751

Moghaddas-Tafreshi, S.M., Mohseni, S., Karami, M.E. and Kelly, S. 2019. Optimal energy management of a gridconnected multiple energy carrier micro-grid. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, **152**: 796–806. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>applthermaleng.2019.02.113</u>

Negenborn, R.R., De Schutter, B. and Hellendoorn, J. 2009. Multi-agent model predictive control: a survey. *Multiagent Systems*: 1–23. <u>arXiv:0908.1076</u>

Negenborn, R.R. 2007. <u>Multi-agent model predictive</u> <u>control with applications to power networks</u>. Doctoral Thesis.

Ofgem, 2020a. <u>Understanding trends in energy prices</u>. London: Crown Copyright.

Ofgem, 2020b. <u>About the Smart Export Guarantee (SEG)</u>. London: Crown Copyright.

Rodríguez González, A.Y., Alonso, M.P., Lezama, F., Rodríguez, L., Muñoz de Cote, E., Morales, E.F., Sucar, L.E. and Crockett, D.D. 2019. A competitive and profitable multi-agent autonomous broker for energy markets. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, **49**: 101590. doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>scs.2019.101590</u>

Riley, G. 2020. <u>Smart export guarantee tariffs</u>. Reading: Spirit Energy.

Santos, A.Q., Monaro, R.M., Coury, D.V. and Oleskovicz, M. 2019. A new real-time multi-agent system for under frequency load shedding in a smart grid context. *Electric Power Systems Research*, **174**: 105851. doi: <u>10.1016/J.</u> EPSR.2019.04.029

Satheesh Kumar, G.S. and Nagarajan, C. 2019. Design and implementation of intelligent energy control for tariff management using multi-agent system in smart/micro grid. *Concurrency and Computation*, *31*(12): 1–10. doi: 10.1002/cpe.4846

Scott, N. 2016. <u>Microgrids a guide to their issues and</u> <u>value</u>. Prepared for Highlands and Islands Enterprise in Partnership with Scottish Government.

Wang, H. and Huang, J. 2018. Incentivizing energy trading for interconnected microgrids. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, **9**(4): 2647–2657. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> TSG.2016.2614988

Wang, Z., Chen, B., Wang, J., Begovic, M.M. and Chen, C. 2015. Coordinated energy management of networked microgrids in distribution systems. *IEEE Power & Energy Society General Meeting*, **6**(1): 45–53. doi: <u>10.1109/</u> <u>PESGM.2015.7286148</u>

Wooldridge, M. 1999. Intelligent agents. In: Multiagent systems, Weiss, G. [Ed.] Cambridge, USA: MIT Press. 27–77.

Zeng, C., Jiang, Y.,Liu, Y., Tan, Z., He, Z. and Wu, S. 2019. Optimal dispatch of integrated energy system considering energy hub technology and multi-agent interest balance. *Energies*, **12**(16): 3112. doi: <u>10.3390/en12163112</u>

Zhang, L., Li, Z. and Wu, C. 2014. Randomized auction design for electricity markets between grids and microgrids. *ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation Review*, **42**(1): 99–110. doi: <u>10.1145/2591971.2591999</u>







EnergyREV

Want to know more?

Sign up to receive our newsletter and keep up to date with our research, or get in touch directly by emailing info@energyrev.org.uk

About EnergyREV

EnergyREV was established in 2018 (December) under the UK's Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund Prospering from the Energy Revolution programme. It brings together a team of over 50 people across 22 UK universities to help drive forward research and innovation in Smart Local Energy Systems.

ISBN 978-1-909522-92-3

www.energyrev.org.uk

№[®] info@energyrev.org.uk

J@EnergyREV_UK

in EnergyREV

EnergyREV is funded by UK Research and Innovation, grant number EP/S031863/1